CITY COUNCIL

CITY COUNCIL MEETING
Pedro “Pete” M. Sanchez, Mayor First and Third Tuesday
Lori Wilson, Mayor Pro-Tem Every Month

Jane Day
Michael J. Hudson

Michael A. Segala AGENDA

REGULAR MEETING OF THE
SUISUN CITY COUNCIL

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL ACTING AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY,

AND HOUSING AUTHORITY
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 1, 2015
7:00 P.M.

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS -- 701 CIVIC CENTER BOULEVARD -- SUISUN CITY, CALIFORNIA

NOTICE

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953, Subdivision (b), the following Council/Successor Agency/Housing

Authority includes teleconference participation by Councilmember Jane Day from: 301 Morgan Street, Suisun City,
CA 94585.

(Next Ord. No. - 733)
(Next City Council Res. No. 2 015 — 100)
Next Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency Res. No. SA2015 — 02)

(Next Housing Authority Res. No. HA2015 — 04)
ROLL CALL

Council / Board Members
Pledge of Allegiance
Invocation

PUBLIC COMMENT

(Requests by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this
agenda per California Government Code §54954.3 allowing 3 minutes to each speaker).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION

(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers / Boardmembers
should be identified at this time.)

REPORTS: (Informational items only.)
1. Mayor/Council - Chair/Boardmembers

2. City Manager/Executive Director/Staff

a. Emergency Preparedness Month and the Status of City Readiness — (O’Brien).

DEPARTMENTS: AREA CODE (707)
ADMINISTRATION 421-7300 ® PLANNING 421-7335 ® BUILDING 421-7310 ® FINANCE 421-7320
FIRE 425-9133 @ RECREATION & COMMUNITY SERVICES 421-7200 8 POLICE 421-7373 ® PUBLIC WORKS 421-7840
SUCCESSOR AGENCY 421-7309 FAX 421-7366



September 1, 2015 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 2

PRESENTATIONS/APPOINTMENTS

(Presentations, Awards, Proclamations, Appointments).

3. Introduction and Swearing in of new Suisun City Police Communications and Records
Technician Danielle Lindberg — (Mattos).

4. Introduction of new Suisun City Planning Specialist Katrina Lapira — (Garben).

5. Introduction of new Suisun City Public Works & Building Director, City Engineer Tim
McSorley — (Bragdon).

6. Presentation of Proclamation to Fire Chief Mike O’Brien Proclaiming September 2015 as
“National Preparedness Month” — (O’Brien).

CONSENT CALENDAR

Consent calendar items requiring little or no discussion may be acted upon with one motion.
City Council

7. Council Adoption of Resolution. 2015—  : Approving an Agreement with Creative Arts
Collective to Lease and Operate Harbor Theater and Authorizing the City Manager to
Execute the Agreement on the City’s Behalf — (Bragdon).

8. Council Adoption of Resolution. 2015—  : Approving an Amendment to the California
Enterprise Development Authority (CEDA) Joint Powers Agreement to Add Suisun City as
an Associate Member thereby Authorizing properties within City Limits to Voluntarily
Participate in the Figtree Property Assessed Clean Energy (PACE) Program — (Garben).

Joint City Council / Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency/Housing Authority

9. Council/Agency/Authority Approval of the Minutes of the Regular and/or Special Meetings
of the Suisun City Council, Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency, and Housing
Authority held on July 7, 2015, and July 21, 2015. — (Hobson).

Joint City Council / Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency

10. Council/Agency Approval of the July 2015 Payroll Warrants in the amount of $393,754.67.
Council/Agency Approval of the July 2015 Payable Warrants in the amount of $1,412,584.75
— (Finance).

GENERAL BUSINESS

City Council

11. Council Adoption of Resolution. 2015—___: Approving and Authorizing the City Manager
to Execute a Professional Services Agreement to Assess the Feasibility of a Tax Measure for
the November 2016 Ballot — (Bragdon).

PUBLIC HEARINGS

12. Public Hearing

Discussion and Direction Regarding Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan Update Policies —
(Garben).




September 1, 2015 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 3

CLOSED SESSION

Pursuant to California Government Code section 54950 the City Council / Suisun City Council
Acting as Successor Agency will hold a Closed Session for the purpose of:

Joint City Council / Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency

13. PERSONNEL MATTERS

Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54954.5 et seq. the Suisun City

Council/Successor Agency will hold a Closed Session for the purpose of Public Employee
Performance Evaluation: City Manager Goals and Priorities.

CONVENE OPEN SESSION
Announcement of Actions Taken, if any, in Closed Session.

ADJOURNMENT

A complete packet of information containing staff reports and exhibits related to each item for the open session of
this meeting, and provided to the City Council, are available for public review at least 72 hours prior to a Council
/Agency/Authority Meeting at Suisun City Hall 701 Civic Center Blvd., Suisun City. Agenda related writings or
documents provided to a majority of the Council/Board/Commissioners, after distribution of the agenda packet, less
than 72 hours prior to a Council/Agency/Authority meeting related to an agenda item for the open session of this
meeting will be made available for public inspection during normal business hours. An agenda packet is also
located at the entrance to the Council Chambers during the meeting for public review. The City may charge

photocopying charges for requested copies of such documents. Assistive listening devices may be obtained at the
meeting

PLEASE NOTE:

1. The City Council/Agency/Authority hopes to conclude its public business by 11:00 P.M. Ordinarily, no new items will be taken up after
the 11:00 P.M. cutoff and any items remaining will be agendized for the next meeting. The agendas have been prepared with the hope that

all items scheduled will be discussed within the time allowed.

Suisun City is committed to providing full access to these proceedings; individuals with special needs may call 421-7300.

Agendas are posted at least 72 hours in advance of regular meetings at Suisun City Hall, 701 Civic Center Boulevard, Suisun City, CA.

Agendas may be posted at other Suisun City locations including the Suisun City Fire Station, 621 Pintail Drive, Suisun City, CA, and the

Suisun City Senior Center, 318 Merganser Drive, Suisun City, CA.

w N



.. . I - H B BN - u
u
u u
. u u
i - .
II.I
u - II- u -

-
u
u u u
s
II.I
= i I. u ..I: [ ]
u
_— i u -
u u .I
u u
u u .I
u
- .. I.



AGENDA TRANSMITTAL ITEM 2.a

MEETING DATE: September 1, 2015

'AGENDA ITEM: Emergency Preparedness Month and the Status of City Readiness.

FISCAL IMPACT: There would be no fiscal impact.

BACKGROUND: Each Year in September the nation recognizes Emergency Preparedness
month. This year’s theme is Don’t Wait. Communicate. Make vour Emergency Plan Today.

History has shown us that the federal government can’t do it alone when it comes to preparing
for, responding to, and recovering from disasters. FEMA is only part of our nation’s emergency
management team — along with our other federal partners, state and local governments, nonprofit
and voluntary organizations, the private sector and most importantly, the public.

STAFF REPORT: The goal this year is to transform awareness into action by encouraging
everyone to commit to doing at least one of the following:

Make a family emergency plan for emergencies.

Prepare a kit for the family with food, water, medicines, and shelter that will last for 72
hours.

The citizens of Suisun City should take each week of this month to focus on emergency
preparation and consider a different type of emergency.

Week 1: September 1-5  Make Your Plan, Make Your Kit

Make sure you and your family can reconnect if an emergency occurs at times when the family is
out of the home at work, school, or shopping. Have a plan on where to meet, how to make
contact through phone or text. Prepare a kit that will make you and the family self-sufficient for
at least 72 hours. This includes food, water, medicines, shelter, for the family and your pets.
Make a smaller kit that stays in the car. Additionally, basic services such as electricity, gas,

water, sewage treatment and telephones may be cut off for days or even a week, or longer. Your
supplies kit should contain items to help you manage during these outages.

Week 2: September 6-12  Wildfire

In Suisun City, the threat of wildfire is not as great as some parts of the county, but we still have
areas that can threaten homes. The following are things you can do to protect yourself, your
family and your property in the event of a fire. Design and landscape your home with wildfire
safety in mind. Select materials and plants that can help contain fire rather than fuel it. Use fire-
resistant or noncombustible materials on the roof and exterior structure of the dwelling, or treat
wood or combustible material used in roofs, siding, decking or trim with fire-retardant chemicals
evaluated by a nationally recognized laboratory, such as Underwriters Laboratories (UL). Plant

fire-resistant shrubs. and trees, for example, hardwood trees are less flammable than pine,
evergreen, eucalyptus or fir trees.

PREPARED BY: Mike O’Brien, Fire Chief
REVIEWED/APPROVED BY:

Suzanne Bragdon, City Manager N

5



Week 3: September 13-19 Winter Storms and Flooding

Floods are one of the most common hazards in the United States, however not all floods are
alike. Some floods develop slowly, while others such as flash floods can develop in just a few
minutes and without visible signs of rain. Additionally, floods can be local, impacting a
neighborhood or community, or very large, affecting entire river basins and multiple states. Be
aware of flood hazards no matter where you live or work, but especially if you are in low-lying
areas, near water, behind a levee or downstream from a dam. Even very small streams, gullies,

creeks, culverts, dry streambeds or low-lying ground that appear harmless in dry weather can
flood.

The following are important points to remember when driving in flood conditions: Six inches of
water will reach the bottom of most passenger cars causing loss of control and possible stalling.
A foot of water will float many vehicles, two feet of rushing water can carry away most vehicles
including sport utility vehicles (SUV’s) and pick-ups.

Week 4: September 14-26 Power Outage

To prepare for a power outage you should do the following: Fill plastic containers with water and
place them in the refrigerator and freezer if there's room. Leave about an inch of space inside
each one, because water expands as it freezes. This chilled or frozen water will help keep food
cold during a temporary power outage. Be aware that most medication that requires refrigeration
can be kept in a closed refrigerator for several hours without a problem. Keep your car tank at
least half full because gas stations rely on electricity to power their pumps.

Know where the manual release lever of your electric garage door opener is located and how to
operate it. Garage doors can be heavy, so know that you may need help to lift it.

Keep a key to your house with you if you regularly use the garage as the primary means of
entering your home, in case the garage door will not open.

Week 5: September 27-30 Earthquake

Earthquakes are sudden rolling or shaking events caused by movement under the earth’s surface.
Earthquakes happen along cracks in the earth's surface, called fault lines, and can be felt over
large areas, although they usually last less than one minute. Earthquakes cannot be predicted —
. although scientists are working on it!

Look around places where you spend time. Identify safe places such as under a sturdy piece of
furniture or against an interior wall in your home, office or school so that when the shaking

starts, you Drop to the ground, Cover your head and neck with your arms, and if a safer place is
nearby, crawl to it and Hold On.

Practice how to “Drop, Cover, and Hold On!”

To react quickly you must practice often. You may only have seconds to protect yourself in an
earthquake.

Before an earthquake occurs, secure items that could fall and cause injuries (e.g., bookshelves,
mirrors, light fixtures).

Store critical supplies (e.g., water, medication) and documents.

Plan how you will communicate with family members, including multiple methods by making
a family emergency communication plan.



When choosing your home or business, check if the building is earthquake resistant per llofﬁ]M 2.2
building codes. )

The Loecal Hazard Mitigation Plan (LHMP) is with the consultant for final tweaks to conform

to some recent Federal and State requirements. We should be ready to present the final Plan to
the Council and the State OES by the end of the year.

The Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) Organization chart has been updated with the caveat
that as we get to know our new staff members we may make some adjustments. The EOP update
has begun and will receive more attention once the LHMP is finalized. For the most part the
plan’s basic form, checklists, and procedures will stay the same. The front section will be
updated to insure we are compliant with the law for things like emergency declaration
procedures. The city has not needed to open our Emergency Operations Center in more than 22
years, but, we will still prepare.

New focus will be given to use of social media and spontaneous volunteer workers and their
management.

Social Media

Social Media has become one of the primary was to disseminate information. During the Napa
Earthquake, the news outlets, the citizens, and the responders were able to stay on top of the
developing emergency by watching the social media sources. Our EOP needs to be updated to
take advantage of of this resource.

As with a lot of new developments, the golden egg does not come without problems to solve. In
the social media realm the city needs to decide how to control and use this media. Currently we
have more than 13 separate online sources with Suisun somewhere in their name. One of the
needs in an emergency is to have a single official source of information to prevent conflicting,
confusing, and sometimes dangerous information given out to the public. The other problem will
be the time involved to have all these sites updated with the same information.

Current Winter Season Preparedness

Predictions of a record breaking El Nino is prompting the city staff to look and assess the needs
for a very wet season.

Public Works staff is looking at:

Sand and sandbag needs. Possible the need for more than one location.
McCoy Creek vegetation.

Inspect the levy behind School Street.

Check in with our utility providers.

The Fire Department will be monitoring the weather and the developing El Nino story.
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Receive and file.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. None.






and

WHEREAS, the City of Smsun City is committed to cnsuring the safety and security of all thn_sé vmg inand visiting ourcrty’

WHEREAS September is National Dlsaster Preparedness Month. This September m aﬂdﬂaon ‘to the ongoing- dlsaster ‘
information we provide throughout the year. We want to stress the; importanee of 1 planmngN@W, because when'a vdrsaster
+ strikes it's: o0 late, The national theme is, “Don’t Wait. Commnmute. Make YOlll‘ Emargency Plan Tod and_

WHEREAS while many things compete for our attention and it may seem overwhelming oriummportant to get prepared, we
know from experience that taking steps to prepare ahead of tune «can help you respond betterand stay’ ; an'emergency; and

WHEREAS, the time and effort you mvestnowmprepanngwﬂlhelpyeuandyom famﬂynav.rgatethmugh andneco‘” more

quickly from what may come our way at the most unexpectedmoment ‘The time to act is now, everyone éhoﬂd be prepared to. sumve for
72 hours beforehelp arrives; and - '

WBEREAS residents should take éach week of this month to- focus on: emergency ptepamnonmd a dlfferent type ‘of emergency
‘s Week 1: September 1-5 Make Your Plan, Make Your Kit - . =
Week 2: September 6-12 ‘Wildfire.
Week 3: September 13-19  Winter Storms and Floodmg
Week 4: September 14-26 - Power Outage
Week 5: September27-30 Earthquake

: “NATIONAL PREPAREDNESS MONTH” :

in the City of Suisun Clty, anrl ennourage all res:dents and busmesses to, develop’the:r own em
togethutowardcreatmg amorepreparedsoclety !







ITEM 7
AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

MEETING DATE: September 1, 2015

CITY AGENDA ITEM: Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2015-_3 Approving an
Agreement with Creative Arts Collective to Lease and Operate Harbor Theater and Authorizing
the City Manager to Execute the Agreement on the City’s Behalf.

FISCAL IMPACT: The initial cost to the City to address needed facility repairs is estimated to be
$70,000, which has been allocated in the current fiscal year budget. Ongoing revenue to the City
from per-ticket and per-rental charges is estimated to range from $14,000 to $26,000 annually as
programming and operations ramp up. These revenues would be dedicated to the ongoing facility
maintenance and upkeep requirements of the City. Additionally, City costs to offset utility charges
(electricity, gas, water and garbage) would amount to $27,000 in the first year and $4,500 in the
second. Thereafter, the Creative Arts Collective is anticipated to cover 100% of these costs.

Indirect benefits would accrue to the City in the form of enhanced sales tax and TOT revenues due
to the patrons of the various events eating and/or lodging downtown.

BACKGROUND: The construction of the Harbor Theater (Theater) was completed in 1999, and a
lease was entered into at that time with Solano Community College (SCC) for its operation of the
facility. SCC has indicated that it no longer wants to operate the facility and has vacated the
premises. On April 3, 2015, the City issued a Request for Proposal (RFP) for the Lease/Operation

of the Theater. On June 30, 2015, the City Council selected the Creative Arts Collective (CAQ),
and directed the City Manager to negotiate the terms of the lease.

STAFF REPORT: A long-standing priority of the City Council is to enhance activities downtown
that will increase foot traffic, which in turn will support existing businesses and their expansion,
while attracting new businesses. Bottom-line: we want a thriving downtown.

Great strides have been made in attracting an exciting mix of restaurateurs downtown, making us a

known “restaurant hub” for the region. Professional and service businesses have followed, along
with our first hotel. Retailers are starting to make a presence.

In the area of activities, daytime can’t be beat including boating, fishing, walking, jogging, wine

and art events, wine tastings and history. Nighttime is more limited, with a first-rate night club and
lounge on Harbor Square.

This agreement with the Creative Arts Collective to lease and operate the Harbor Theater, would
help to fill this nighttime niche with a mix of programming ranging from theatrical, musical, and
dance performances to children’s theater, comedy, vocals, readings, lectures, and other

presentations. A range of classes would likewise be included including youth theater, art,
rehearsals, dance, etc.

The proposed Theater Lease Agreement is attached. Highlights of key provisions include the
following:

e The initial term of the agreement would be for five years. (Section 2.2)

PREPARED BY:

Ronald C. Anderson, Jr., Assistant City Manag;
REVIEWED/APPROVED BY:

Suzanne Bragdon, City Manager 3~ %1



If CAC has not been in default, it would have the exclusive right to negotiate a five-year
extension, at which time, ongoing lease payments from CAC to the City would be, among
others, a topic of negotiation. (Section 2.4)

Rent would include: $2 per ticket sold to all events, $2 per student enrolled in a class, 2.5%
of the gross amount paid to CAC for any facility rental (such as weddings, banquets, special
meetings, etc.). CAC would be required to pay the rent quarterly and provide an accounting
summary. The City would have the right to audit CAC’s financial records. (Section 3. 1))

CAC would be required to meet specific performance standards which cover programming,
active engagement with the business community, quarterly meetings with the City’s Ad Hoc
Committee, reporting and facility maintenance. (Section 3.2)

CAC would be required to be an active member in the Business Improvement District.
(Section 3.3)

Specific authorized uses, minimum program requirements and reporting obligations are set
forth in the lease agreement. (Section 4.1, Exhibit D-1, and Exhibit D-2)

Minimum programming standards include 3 recurring monthly events each month (i.e.,
comedy, music and open mic) plus 4 CAC productions per year ranging from 8 to 12 shows
per production.

Minimum programming of classes includes 12 to 15 classes offered per month with
sessions per class ranging from 4 times/month to 2 times/week.

CAC would be required to make the facility available to rent for various activities including

productions, entertainment and such things as banquets, meetings, receptions, etc. (Section
4.2)

The City would have the right to use the facility up to ten days per year at no cost other than
reimbursements for technical support above staff for normal building supervision and
operation. (Section 4.3)

Except for structural elements (roof, plumbing, water heater, HVAC, etc.) that the City
would be responsible for, CAC would be required to maintain and repair the facilities.
(Section 7.1)

The City would be required to provide property insurance (which it currently does), and
CAC would be required to provide liability, workers comp, liquor, and director & officer
insurance. (Section 10)

CAC would be required to pay for all utility costs (water, sewer, gas, electric, telephone,
solid waste, etc.), including any late fees, with noted capped contributions by the City (i.e.,
$3,000 per month for the first six months, $1,500 for the second six months and up to $750
for the next six months. (Section 14.1)

Termiination of the lease may occur at the end of the term, or by mutual consent of the
parties, or in a case where the facility is not usable due to damage (such as earthquake, fire,
etc.). (Section 18.5)

CAC would have the non-exclusive right to use the parking around the theater, however
CAC would be required to ensure that student parking only occurs off-site.



ITEM 7

The intent of the agreement is to create a lease structure within which the CAC may be successful,

which in turn supports the success of existing and future businesses while protecting the City and
its facilities.

RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the City Council adopt Resolution No, 201 5-_
Approving and an Agreement with Creative Arts Collective to Lease and Operate Harbor Theater
and Authorizing the City Manager to Execute the Agreement on the City’s Behalf,

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Resolution No. 2015-__: Approving and an Agreement with Creative Arts Collective to
Lease and Operate Harbor Theater and Authorizing the City Manager to Execute the
Agreement on the City’s Behalf.

2. Proposed Harbor Arts Center at Harbor Theater Lease Agreement.



ITEM 7
Attachment 1

RESOLUTION NO. 2015-____

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY
APPROVING AN AGREEMENT WITH CREATIVE ARTS COLLECTIVE TO
LEASE AND OPERATE HARBOR THEATER AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY
MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT ON THE CITY’S BEHALF

WHEREAS, the construction of the Harbor Theater (Theater) was completed in 1999,
and a lease was entered into at that time with Solano Community College (SCC) for its operation
of the facility; and

WHEREAS, SCC has indicated that it no longer wants to operate the facility and has
vacated the premises; and

WHEREAS, On April 3, 2015, the City issued a Request for Proposal (RFP) for the
Lease/Operation of the Theater; and

WHEREAS, On June 30, 2015, the City Council selected the Creative Arts Collective
(CACQ), and directed the City Manager to negotiate the terms of the lease; and

WHEREAS, the parties have met and conferred and agreed upon the proposed lease
agreement attached hereto; and

WHEREAS, the proposed agreement would meet the intent of creating a lease structure
within which the CAC may be successful, while protecting the City and its facilities.

WHEREAS, the attached agreement would help to fill a nighttime niche with a mix of
programming ranging from theatrical, musical, and dance performances to children’s theater,
comedy, vocals, readings, lectures, and other presentations; and

WHEREAS, a range of classes would likewise be included including youth theater, art,
rehearsals, dance, etc.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of
Suisun City hereby approves the attached lease agreement, and authorizes the City Manager to
execute it on the City’s behalf.

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of
Suisun City held on this 1* of September, 2015 by the following vote:

AYES: Councilmembers:
NOES: Councilmembers:
ABSENT: Councilmembers:
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers:

WITNESS my hand and the seal of said Agency this 1% of September, 2015.

Linda Hobson, CMC
City Clerk

10



HARBOR ARTS CENTER AT HARBOR THEATER

THEATER LEASE AGREEMENT

By and Between

CITY OF SUISUN CITY,
a municipal corporation

“Landlord”

and

CREATIVE ARTS COLLECTIVE,
a California non-profit corporation

“Tenant”

01107.0020/262967.7

11

ITEM 7
Attachment 2



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Title

—

Lease of Premises; Condition of Premises

Effective Date; Term; Right to Terminate; Exclusive Right to
Negotiate Extension

i

Rent and Other Consideration
Uses
Real Estate Taxes

Maintenance & Repairs

3

4

5

6. Personal Property Taxes
-

8 Alterations

)

Compliance with Laws

10. Insurance

11. Indemnification
12. No Liens

13. Signs

14. Utilities

15. Entry and Inspection

16. Damage and Destruction

17.  Assignment and Subletting

18. Default and Remedies; Termination
19. Surrender of Premises

20.  Force Majeure

21.  Estoppe! Certificate

22. Subordination; Attornment Non-Disturbance
23.  Condemnation

24, Use of Landlord's Name

25, Trade Fixtures

26.  Parking

27.  Quiet Enjoyment

28. Recording Memorandum

29. Holdover

30. Special Requirements

31. Miscellaneous

01107.0020/262967.7 1

12

Page



Exhibit A
Exhibit B
Exhibit C
Exhibit D-1
Exhibit D-2
Exhibit E

01107.0020/262967.7

Depiction of Premises

Summary of Landlord's Personal Property
Rent Schedule

Minimum Program Requirements
Reporting Obligations
Maintenance Standards

13

ITEM 7
Attachment 2



THEATER LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS THEATER LEASE AGREEMENT (“Lease”) is made this ___ day of , 2015,
by and between the CITY OF SUISUN CITY, a municipal corporation (“Landiord”) and
CREATIVE ARTS COLLECTIVE, a California non-profit corporation (“Tenant’). Landlord and
Tenant are sometimes individually referred to as a “Party” and jointly as the “Parties’.

RECITALS:

A. Landlord owns that certain real property located in the City of Suisun City
(“City”), County of Solano as follows: (i) that certain real property commonly identified as 720
Main Street, Suisun City (APN 032-141-140) improved as with a theater building (consisting of
approximately 12,445 square feet) with adjacent landscape areas (“Theater Building”"), and an
adjoining patio (‘Adjoining Patio”) (collectively the “Theater Parcel’); (ii) that certain real
property immediately adjacent to the west of the Theater Parcel (APN 0032-141-180) improved
as a parking lot (“West Parking Parcel’); and (iii) that certain real property immediately
adjacent to the north of the Theater Parcel (APN 0032-141-170) improved as a parking lot
(“North Parking Parcel”). The West Parking Parcel and North Parking Parcel are hereinafter
jointly referred to as the “Parking Parcels.” The Theater Parcel and Parking Parcels are
depicted on attached Exhibit A and are collectively referred to as the “Property”.

B. Landlord also owns that certain personal property and equipment summarized on
Exhibit “B” which is located in the Theater Building (‘Landlord’s Personal Property”).

C. The Property is located in the historic plaza area of downtown Suisun City
(“Historic Downtown Area”).

D. Tenant . is a California non-profit corporation whose purpose is the
encouragement and development of artistic and performing arts through programs and classes
conducted by professional performers.

E. Landlord desires to encourage the arts for the benefit of the community and
concurrently draw people to the Historic Downtown Area which will assist local businesses and
increase revenue to the City.

F. Pursuant to the terms of this Lease, Landlord desires to lease to Tenant and
Tenant desires to lease from Landlord (i) the Theater for Tenant’s sole exclusive use, (i) the
Parking Parcels and Adjoining Patio for Tenant's non-exclusive use, and (i) the Personal
Property (collectively the “Premises”).

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above Recitals and the mutual promises of
the Parties set forth in this Lease, Landlord and Tenant hereby agree as follows:

1. LEASE OF PREMISES; CONDITION OF PREMISES.
1.4. Letting. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby hires from Landlord
the Premises (as defined in the Recitals) solely for the uses specified in Section 4.
As material consideration for this Lease, Tenant agrees to use the Premises and

conduct all its business operations on the Premises under the designation of “Harbor
Theater’. No other name shall be used with respect to the Premises without the prior

01107.0020/262967.7 3

14



ITEM 7
Attachment 2

written consent of Landlord which may be granted or withheld in its sole discretion.

Landlord has no objection to Tenant creating and using a fictitious business name of

“Harbor Arts Center at Harbor Theater” in compliance with California law.
1.2. Condition of Premises. Subject to Landlord's completion of the Landlord
Improvements (defined in Section 1.3) and Landlord's continuing maintenance
obligations set forth in Section 7.2, Landlord shall deliver the Premises to Tenant and
Tenant shall accept the Premises from Landlord, in its “AS IS” condition without
representation or warranty. Pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1938, Tenant is
advised that the Premises have not undergone an inspection by a Certified Access
Specialist, and, therefore, Landlord is not aware if the Premises comply with the

applicable construction-related accessibility standards pursuant to Civil Code Section
55.53.

1.3. Landlord Improvements. Within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date (defined in
Section 2.1), Landlord shall, at Landlord's sole cost and expense, make the following
repairs to the Theater Building: (i) replace the lobby carpet, and (ii) repair certain

areas of the roof and make other minor repairs as previously agreed by the Parties in
writing (“Landlord Improvements”).

2. EFFECTIVE DATE; COMMENCEMENT DATE; TERM.
2.1. Effective Date. This Lease shall be deemed effective as of the date this Lease is

executed by the Landlord after approval by the City Council which date is specified

on the signature page (‘Effective Date”). Except for the Minimum Program

Requirements which commence as of October 1, 2015, all other Tenant's rights and

obligations under this Lease shall commence as of the Effective Date.

2.2, Term. The term of this Lease shall commence on the Effective Date and

automatically terminate five (5) years thereafter (“Term”) unless otherwise amended
by the Parties pursuant to Section 31.15.

2.3. Right to Terminate. Tenant is aware that, as of the Effective Date, a potential
dispute exists between Landlord and a prior occupant (‘Prior Occupant’) as to
ownership of any personal property in the Theater Building with a value of Ten
Thousand Dollars ($10,000) or more. In the event that it is determined that any such
personal property within the Theater Building is the property of the Prior Occupant
and that Prior Occupant has the right to remove same, Landiord shall promptly notify
Tenant of such event (“Determination Notice™). Upon receipt of the Determination
Notice, Tenant may request a meeting with representatives of Landlord to discuss
alternatives. If a resolution is reached, such modifications shall be effective only if
this Lease is amended in accordance with Section 31.15. if the Parties do not amend
the Lease, then Tenant shall have the right to terminate this Lease by written notice
to Landlord delivered within sixty (60) days after its receipt of the Determination
Notice. If this Lease is not amended and Tenant has not elected to terminate this

Lease in the time and manner specified above, then this Lease shall remain in full
force and effect.

2.4, Exclusive Right to Negotiate Extension. If Tenant has not been in default of its

obligations under this Lease at any time during the original Term (as defined in
Section 2.2), Tenant shall have the right (but not the obligation) to enter into a ninety

01107.0020/262967.7 4

15



(90) day period of exclusive negotiation with Landlord to extend this Lease upon
mutually acceptable terms (including but not limited to rent payments) for additional
period up to one (1) additional period of five (5) years ("ENA Right®). Tenant must
exercise this ENA Right by sending a written notice to Landlord specifying its
exercise of this ENA Right which notice must be delivered to Landlord not less than
eight (8) months prior to the expiration of the original Term (“ENA Notice”"). Within
fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the ENA Notice, Landlord shall deliver to
Tenant its standard non-binding form of exclusive negotiation agreement (“ENA
Agreement’). Tenant may, in its sole discretion, execute the ENA Agreement and
return same to Landlord within fifteen (15) business days of its receipt of the ENA
Agreement. If Tenant does not execute and return the ENA Agreement within the
time specified, the right under this Section 2.5 shall cease and terminate. If Tenant
does execute and return the ENA in the time specified, the ENA Agreement shall
become effective. If the Parties agree to an extension and other modifications, such
terms shall be effective only if this Lease is amended in accordance with Section
31.15.

3. RENT & PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.

3.1. Monetary Rent. Tenant agrees to pay rent on a quarterly basis for ticket sales and
student fees calculated in accordance with the Rent Summary attached hereto as
Exhibit C (“Monetary Rent") together with an accounting summary calculating the
Monetary Rent for the quarter in reasonable detail in a form reasonably acceptable to
Landlord (“Accounting Summary”). Tenant shail pay the Monetary Rent and
concurrently deliver the Accounting Summary to Landlord within ten (10) days after
the end of each quarter during the Term.

3.2. Performance Standards. As material consideration for this Lease, Tenants
covenants to comply with all of the following requirements (collectively the
“Performance Standards”): (i) satisfy the Minimum Program Requirements
specified in Section 4.1.2 (which include quarterly meetings with the Ad Hoc
committee as set forth in Exhibit D-2); (ii) comply with the Reporting Requirements
set forth in Section 4.1.2; (iii) diligently maintain and repair the Premises in
compliance with Section 7.1; (iv) perform the BID Obligations (as defined in Section
3.3); and (v) comply with the requirements in Section 30. On an annual basis, Tenant
shall provide a reasonably detailed written report regarding Tenant's operations and
compliance with its obligations under this Lease in a form satisfactory to Landlord
which will be presented and discussed at a public meeting.

3.3. Business Improvement District. Tenant covenants to: (i) be an active member of
the City of Suisun Historic Waterfront Business Improvement District (“BID”)
including attending monthly meetings; and (ii) actively work with the City and the BID
businesses to provide special opportunities and discounts for attendees at events
and classes and Tenant shall reasonably promote such special arrangements as part
of its regular marketing. Tenant’s obligations under this Section are collectively
referred to as “BID Obligations”.

3.4. Payment of Rent. All Monetary Rent and all other monetary obligations to be paid
by Tenant to Landlord shall be in lawful money of the United States of America at the
address specified in Section 31.13, or such other address as Landlord shall notify
Tenant in writing.

01107.0020/262967.7 5

16



ITEM 7
Attachment 2
3.5. Late Payment. Tenant hereby acknowledges that late payment by Tenant to
Landlord of Rent or other sums due hereunder will cause Landlord to incur costs not
contemplated by this Lease. Accordingly, any payment of any sum to be paid by
Tenant not paid when within ten (10) days of its due date shall be subject to a five
percent (5%) late charge. Landlord and Tenant agree that this late charge represents
a reasonable estimate of such costs and expenses and is fair compensation to
Landlord for its loss suffered by such late payment by Tenant.

3.6. Security Deposit. Tenant is not required to provide and has not provided a security
deposit to Landlord.

4. USES.

4.1. Authorized Uses; Minimum Program Requirements & Reporting Obligations.

4.1.1. Authorized Uses. Tenant shall use the Premises solely for the following:
(i) presenting its own productions; (ii) conducting classes; (iii) third party
productions; and (iv) facility rentals for banquets, weddings, meetings,
trainings, conferences, special events and the like. All programs, activities
and classes (including those by third party production groups) shall be in
nature of artistic productions including musical performances, comedy
performances, high-quality films, stage plays,” dance performances,
concerts, children’s theater, lectures, vocals, lectures on artistic topics,
readings or other presentations before an audience all of which are
related to the arts including visual arts, heaith and weliness, cultural arts,

martial arts, culinary arts, career and presentation arts, literary arts, home
arts and theater performances.

Tenant may operate a refreshment stand on the Premises. Tenant may
also sell or cause to be sold alcoholic beverages at events provided that it
obtains all necessary permits and licenses, and complies with all

applicable laws, statutes and regulations concerning the sale of alcoholic
beverages.

4.1.2. Minimum Program Requirements & Reporting Obligations. Tenant
shall use the Premises to provide the minimum paying programs and
classes as set forth on Exhibit D-1 (“Minimum Program
Requirements”). Tenant's reporting obligations with respect to the
Minimum Program Requirements are set forth on Exhibit D-2 (“‘Reporting
Obligations”). Failure to satisfy the Minimum Programs Requirements

and/or comply with the Reporting Obligations shall be a material default
under this Lease.

4.1.3. Requirements for Third Party Events. When Tenant allows a third

party to use the Premises for an authorized use as specified in Section

4.1.1 above, Tenant shall require the user to execute an appropriate
agreement which shall: require user:

(a) Require user to provide liability insurance in the amount of not less
than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) naming both the Tenant and

01107.0020/262967.7 6

17



Landlord as insureds to be delivered to Tenant not less than three (3)
days prior to the event.

(b) If alcoholic beverages will be present, require user to obtain and
deliver to Tenant liability insurance (as required in subsection (a) above)
together with HOST LIQUOR LIABILITY COVERAGE endorsement.

(c) i alcoholic beverages will be present, require user to obtain an
alcoholic beverage license from the California Alcoholic Beverage Control
Board (“ABC License”). A copy of the ABC license must be submitted by
the user to Tenant not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the event.
(Tenant must warn user in writing that (i) providing the coverage in
subsection (b) above does not constitute or waive the ABC license; and
(i) ABC special licenses are only available to registered non-profit
organizations.)

(d) Any event in honor of a minor must end by 10 pm and no alcohol will
be permitted.

(e) To execute an appropriate agreement which will acknowledge that it is
subject and subordinate to this Lease and include the indemnity
obligations in favor of Landlord consistent with Section 11.

(f) Require compliance with the General Requirements set forth on Exhibit
D-1.

4.2, Community Uses. When there is available space and availability, Tenant shall
make the Premises available to the community for rent for administrative functions,
receptions, meetings, non-profit and for-profit events and other similar activities
provided such uses do not violate Section 4.4.

4.3. Landlord’s Reserved Rights. Landiord shall be permitted to use the Premises for
ten (10) days per year at no cost to the Landlord other than reimbursement to Tenant
for costs in excess of normal building supervision and operation. The events shall be
on mutually convenient dates agreed upon by the Landlord and Tenant. In addition
to the foregoing, Landlord shall have the right to use the Premises every year for (i)
the Chamber of Commerce BUZZ awards, and (ii) the Old Town Christmas on the
Waterfront. Tenant shall advise Landlord in advance of any such special technicians
needed to operate technical sound, lighting and other theater equipment at the
Premises for a Landlord event. If any special technicians are required for Landlord’s
events, Landlord shall be responsible to pay the costs for same.

4.4, Prohibited Uses. Tenant shall not use, or permit the Premises, or any part thereof,
to be used for any purpose or purposes other than those express uses specified in
Section 4.1.1.

Tenant shall not sell or permit to be displayed, performed, sold, kept, or used in or
about the Premises:

(a) Pornographic or sexually explicit books, magazines, programs, literature,
films, drama, productions, printed material, sexual paraphernalia, or other

01107.0020/262967.7 7

18



ITEM 7
Attachment 2

material or media which would be considered lewd, obscene or licentious,
provided, however, that works of art of anthropological significance shall not be
deemed to be within the foregoing definition. Using the Motional Picture
Association of America rating system (“MPAA”), any (i) theatrical productions,
films or acts that contain sexual content that would be rated NP-17 shall not be
allowed, and (ii) any materials related to NC-17 productions which materials
would be rated “red” by MPAA shall not be permitted. With respect to the

admissions of minors, Tenant shall comply with restrictions in the MPAA rating
system.

(b) Any conduct which may be prohibited by standard forms of fire insurance
policies.

(c) Video or arcade game machines are prohibited, provided, however, that use
of such games as a prop in a production is not prohibited.

Tenant shall comply with any and all requirements, pertaining to the use of the
Premises, of any insurance organization or company necessary for the maintenance

of reasonable fire and public liability insurance, covering the buildings within the
Premises and appurtenances.

Tenant shall not allow any animals on the Premises except (i) service dogs as
defined in federal and state law; and (i) animals that are part of an act or program
permitted under Section 4.1 provided that a special permit is obtained from the City.

Tenant shall not permit smoking or vaping on any portion of the Premises.

Tenant shall not commit, or suffer to be committed, any waste upon the Premises, or

-any nuisance or other act or thing which may disturb the quiet enjoyment of any
other tenant or occupant of the Property or any adjacent property. Tenant shall not
conduct or permit to be conducted any sale by auction in, upon or from the Premises,
whether said auction be voluntary, involuntary, pursuant to any assignment for the
payment of credltors or pursuant to any bankruptcy or other solvency proceeding
nor display any “going out of business” or similar sign.

Tenant shall not engage in any activity in, on or about the Premises that violates any
Environmental Law, and shall promptly, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, take all
investigatory and/or remedial action required or ordered by any governmental
agency or Environmental Law for clean-up and removal of any contamination
involving any Hazardous Material created or caused directly or indirectly, by Tenant.
The term “Environmental Law” shall mean any federal, state or local law, statute,
ordinance or regulation pertaining to health, industrial hygiene or the environmental
conditions on, under or about the Premises, including, without limitation, (i) the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980
(“CERCLA"), 42 U.S.C. Sections 9601, et seq.; (ii) the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act of 1976 (“RCRA"), 42 U.S.C. Sections 6901, et seq.; (iii) California
Health and Safety Code Sections 25100, et seq.; (iv) the Safe Drinking Water and
Toxic Enforcement Act of 1986, California Health and Safety Code Section 25249.5,
et seq.; (v) California Health and Safety Code Section 25359.7; (vi) California Health
and Safety Code Section 25915; (vii) the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33
U.S.C. Sections 1317, et seq.; (viii) California Water Code Section 1300, et seq.; and

01107.0020/262967.7 8

19



(ix) California Civil Code Section 3479, et seq., as such laws are amended and the
regulations and administrative codes applicable thereto. The term “Hazardous
Material” includes, without limitation, any material or substance which is (i) defined or
listed as a “hazardous waste”, “extremely hazardous waste”, “restrictive hazardous
waste”, “or “hazardous substance” or considered a waste, condition of pollution or
nuisance under the Environmental Laws; (ii) petroleum or a petroleum product or
fraction thereof; (jii) asbestos; and/or (iv) substances known by the State of California
to cause cancer and/or reproductive toxicity. It is the intent of the Parties hereto to
construe the terms “Hazardous Materials” and “Environmentai Laws” in their
broadest sense. Tenant shall provide all notices required pursuant to the Safe
Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act of 1986, California Health and Safety
Code Section 25249.5, et seq. Tenant shall provide prompt written notice to Landlord
of the existence of Hazardous Materials on the Premises and all notices of violation
of the Environmental Laws received by Tenant.

4.5. Special Event Requirements. Tenant shall be solely responsible for all security
measures for the Premises. Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, provide
additional security at any events where a large attendance is expected in compliance
with the standard requirements imposed by Landlord for municipal events.

4.6. Abandonment. Tenant shall not vacate or abandon the Premises at any time during
the Term of this Lease. Upon termination of this Lease for any reason, any personal
property belonging to Tenant and left on the Premises shall be deemed to be
abandoned, at the option of Landlord, shall become the property of Landlord.

5. REAL ESTATE TAXES. Tenant shall pay any and all real property taxes applicable to
Tenant's possessory interest in the Premises. All such payments shall be made at least
ten (10) days prior to the due date of the applicable instaliment. Tenant shall promptly (at
least five (5) days prior to the due date) furnish Landlord with satisfactory evidence that such
taxes have been paid. If any such taxes to be paid by Tenant shall cover any period of time
after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term hereof, Tenant's share of such taxes
shall be equitably prorated to cover only the period of time within the tax fiscal year that this
Lease is in effect, and Tenant may apply to the County for reimbursement of any
overpayments after such proration. Notwithstanding anything above to the contrary, to the
extent any assessment is levied against the Premises payable in instaliments, Tenant shall
pay all installments coming due and payable during the Term of this Lease.

Tenant acknowledges that although Landlord is a municipal entity exempt from real property
taxes, Tenant's possessory interest under this Lease may be subject to real property
taxation.

Landiord agrees to work with Tenant to assist in providing information to the County Tax
Assessor to reduce the valuation of Tenant's possessory interest in the Premises due to the
(i) Performance Standards, and (ii) that Tenant is a non-profit entity. Landlord provides no
assurance to Tenant that it will be successful in such efforts and that Tenant may be
required to pay real property taxes.

6. PERSONAL PROPERTY TAXES. During the Term, Tenant shall pay prior to delinquency
all taxes assessed against the levied upon fixtures, furnishings, equipment and all other
personal property owned by Tenant (excluding Landlord’s Personal Property) located in the
Premises, and when possible Tenant shall cause said fixtures, furnishings, equipment and

01107.0020/262967.7 9

20



ITEM 7
Attachment 2
other personal property to be assessed and billed separately from. Landlord's Personal
Property. In the event any or all of Tenant's fixtures, furnishings, equipment and other
personal property shall be assessed and taxed with Property, Tenant shall pay its share of
such taxes within ten (10) days after delivery to Tenant by Landlord of a statement in writing
setting forth the amount of such taxes applicable to Tenant's property.

7. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS.

71. Maintenance and Repair by Tenant. Except the specific maintenance obligations

of Landlord as set forth in Section 7.2, Tenant shall at all times during the Term, and
at Tenant's sole cost and expense, keep, maintain and repair the Premises, the
Theater Building, the Signs (as defined in Section 13) and any improvements on the
Premises, in good and sanitary order, condition, and repair, in accordance with the
maintenance standards set forth on Exhibit E. Such maintenance obligations shall
include, but not be limited to, any equipment installed by Tenant, the stage lighting
system (including the dimmer and all lightbulb replacement, operating equipment,

such as control panels and stage rigging systems), furnishings (such as seating,
carpeting and drapes, mirrors, and interior repainting)and landscaping.

Tenant shall also hire a custodian to keep the Premises in good and sanitary order

on a regular basis. However, Tenant may elect to have such services conducted by
its own volunteers.

Tenant shall maintain a written record to evidence the regular performance of

maintenance and upkeep of the facility consistent with the maintenance standards,
as set forth in Exhibit E.

Upon termination of this Lease, the Premises shall be surrendered in good, clean
and sanitary condition except for reasonable use and wear. Tenant agrees to
surrender the Premises in its original condition, together with all additional
improvements  which have been approved by Landlord and installed by Tenant
pursuant to Section 7.1. If Landlord wants to reserve the right to require Tenant to
remove any such additional improvements upon the expiration or earlier termination
of this Lease, Landlord must reserve such right in its notice of approval (which is
described in Section 7.1). If Tenant is required to remove any improvements from the
Premises upon termination of this Lease, Tenant shall do so at Tenant's sole cost
and expense, and Tenant will repair any damage to the Premises caused by such

removal. However, Landlord shall be responsible to repair the chairs to the extent of
the Chair Dedication Fund as defined in Section 7.2,

Tenant shall promptly notify Landlord in writing of any condition in the Premises that

require repairs by Landlord (“Repair Notice”) which shall be made by Landlord as
set forth in Section 7.2.

Tenant acknowledges that Tenant's maintenance obligations under this Section are
material consideration to Landlord for this Lease and, therefore, this Section 7.1 shall
be construed liberally for the protection and preservation of the Premises.

7.2. Limited Maintenance and Repair by Landlord. Landlord shall only be responsible

to maintain in good repair and in compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances and
regulations, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense, only (i) the physical structure of

01107.0020/262967.7 10

21



the Theater Building such as the structural elements, roof, plumbing, water heating
system, electrical systems, HVAC equipment and exterior painting, and (ii) subject to
the financial limitations set forth below.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall not be required to make repairs
necessitated by reason of (i) the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant, or any of
Tenant's staff, volunteers, students, contractors, invitees, subtenants, patrons or

" customers; (ii) by reason of the failure of Tenant to perform or observe and promptly
report to Landlord any conditions the repair of which are Landlord’s responsibility; or
(ii) by reason of the failure of Tenant to perform or observe the conditions or
agreements in this Lease, or caused by unauthorized alterations, additions or
improvements made by Tenant or anyone claiming under Tenant (collectively the
“Tenant Caused Damages”). Tenant shall be solely responsible, at its sole close
and expense to make any Tenant Caused Damages.

Upon receipt of a Repair Notice, Landlord shall have a reasonable period of time (not
to exceed five (5) business days) to commence said repairs. Upon commencement
of repairs, Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to diligently complete same. Tenant
and Landlord shall jointly conduct an annual inspection of the Premises within one
(1) month of the end of the performing season to aid Landlord in determining if any
repairs by Landlord may be necessary.

Any renovation work performed by Landlord to the Premises shall not unreasonably
interfere with Tenant's operations.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord’s repair obligations are specifically limited
in that that Landlord shall not be required to make repairs the cost of which exceeds
the Monetary Rent actually received by Landlord from Tenant as set forth below.
During the Term, Landlord shall maintain a cumulative on-going record of all
Monetary Rent received by Landlord (“Landiord Repair Fund”). Any repairs and
maintenance costs incurred by Landlord under this Section 7.2 shall reduce the
Landlord Repair Fund. If at any time when a repair or maintenance item which is
Landlord's responsibility under this Section 7.2, Landlord shall only be obligated to
make such repair to the extent that the current balance of the Landlord Repair Fund
is sufficient to pay the cost of such repair. However, if the repair item is critical for
Tenant’s operation of the Premises, then Landlord shall make promptly make such
repair but the cost of such shall reduce the Landlord Repair Fund. If Landlord elects,
in its sole discretion, to make repairs notwithstanding the foregoing limitations, such
election shall not be deemed a waiver of this limitation with respect to future repairs
and the cost of such repairs shall reduce the Landlord Repair Fund.

In addition to the Landlord Repair Fund, Landlord shall maintain a cumulative on-
going record of all amounts received by Landlord for the Chair Dedications (as
defined on Exhibit C) (“Chair Repair Fund”). Upon termination of this Lease,
Landlord shall use the Chair Repair Fund to repair and restore the chairs to the
extent required to repair any damage due to the removal of the dedication plagues.
Tenant shall remain responsible for repair or restoration of chairs for any other
issues or problems. Any amount in excess of the actual costs of such repairs shall be
the sole property of Landlord.

01107.0020/262967,7 11

22



ITEM 7
Attachment 2

8. ALTERATIONS.

8.1. To Premises. Tenant shall not make any alterations to the Premises, or any part

thereof, without the prior written consent of Landlord. If Tenant wishes to make
additional improvements to the Premises, Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing
specifying in reasonable detail the proposed alterations and the cost thereof. Within
fifteen (15) days of receiving such notice from Tenant, Landlord shall send written
notice to Tenant indicating whether Landlord approves or disapproves of the
contemplated improvements. Landlord’s .approval shall not be unreasonably withheld
and any disapproval shall be in writing and shall explain the reasons for the denial.
However, as a condition to granting its approval to any of the improvements,
Landiord may require Tenant to provide Landlord with reasonably satisfactory
evidence of Tenant's financial ability to pay for the costs of the improvements and
may require a completion bond be provided to Landlord or other security reasonably
acceptable to Landlord. Any such alterations shall comply with all applicable laws
and regulations. All improvements (excluding minor improvements as determined by
Landlord) which are approved by Landlord shall be under the supervision of a
licensed architect or structural engineer (at Tenant's cost) and made in accordance
with plans and specifications approved in writing by Landlord prior to the
commencement of such work. All work shall be done in a good and workmanlike
manner, diligently prosecuted to completion and completed in compliance with
Section 12. Upon completion of all work, Tenant shall promptly file for record a
Notice of Completion in the office of the Solano County Recorder. All such
improvements shall immediately be deemed a part of the Premises and may not be
removed by Tenant. Prior to commencing any work of improvement hereunder,

Tenant shall notify Landlord so that Landlord can post and record an appropriate
Notice of Non-Responsibility.

8.2. To Landlord’s Personal Property. In the event that Tenant elects to replace item
of Landlord’s Personal Property, such replacement item shall be deemed part of
Landlord’s Personal Property. Upon. termination of this Lease, all of Landlord’s
Personal Property shall be surrendered to Landlord in good condition and repair,
ordinary wear and tear excepted. In the event that Tenant purchases any personal
property that is (i) not to replace an item of Landlord's Personal Property, and (ji) not
attached to the Premises so as to constitute a fixture, such item shall be and remain
owned by Tenant and may be removed by Tenant upon termination of this Lease.

9. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. Except as to the specific obligations of Landlord under
Section 7.2, Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, comply with all of the requirements
of all municipal, state and federal authorities now in force or which may hereafter be in force
pertaining to the use of the Premises, and shall faithfully observe in said use all municipal
ordinances, including, but not limited to, the general plan and zoning ordinances, state and
federal statutes, or other governmental regulations now in force or which shall hereinafter
be in force. The judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction, or the admission of Tenant
in any action or proceeding against Tenant, whether Landlord be a party thereto or not, that

Tenant has violated any such order or statute in said use, shall be conclusive of that fact as
between Landlord and Tenant.

01107.0020/262967.7 12

23



10. INSURANCE.

10.1. Landlord to Provide Property Insurance. Landlord shall maintain, at Landlord’s
sole cost and expense, fire, earthquake and excess coverage insurance throughout
the term of this Lease, on all buildings and improvements located on the Premises
(and fixtures thereto, including, but not limited to, the drapes and seats located in the
Theater), in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the replacement
value of the Premises, together with such other insurance, coverages and
endorsements as Landlord may determine in its sole discretion. Tenant hereby
waives any right of recovery from Landlord, its officers and employees, and Landlord
hereby waives any right of loss or damage (including consequential loss) resulting
from any of the perils insured against as a result of said insurance.

10.2. Tenant ‘s Insurance Obligations.

10.2.1.

10.2.2.

10.2.3.

10.2.4.

10.2.5.

01107.0020/262967.7

Liability Insurance. During the entire term of this Lease, Certificate of
Coverage on annual basis, Tenant shall, at Tenant's sole cost and
expense, for the mutual benefit of Landlord and Tenant, maintain
comprehensive general liability insurance insuring against- claims for
bodily injury, death or property damage occurring in, upon or about the
Premises, written on a per occurrence basis in an amount not less than
either (i) a combined single limit of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) for
bodily injury, death, and property damage or (i) bodily injury limits of Five
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) per person, One Million Dollars
($1,000,000) per occurrence and One Million Dollars ($1,000,000)
products and completed operations and property damage limits of Two
Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000) per occurrence and One
Million Dollars ($1,000,000) in the aggregate.

Worker's Compensation Insurance. Tenant shall, at Tenant's sole cost
and expense, maintain a policy of worker's compensation insurance in an
amount as will fully comply with the laws of the State of California and
which shall indemnify, insure and provide legal defense for both Tenant
and Landlord against any loss, claim or damage arising from any injuries
or occupational diseases occurring to any worker employed by or any
persons retained by Tenant in the course of conducting Tenant's
business in the Premises.

Liquor Insurance. Any time alcohol beverages are present at the
Premises, Tenant shall provide liability insurance with Host Liquor Liability
Coverage endorsement.

Director & Officer Insurance. Tenant shall, at Tenant's sole cost and
expense, maintain a policy of director’s and officer’s liability insurance in
an amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000).

General Provisions. All of the policies of insurance required to be

procured by Tenant pursuant to this 10.2 shall be primary insurance and
shall name Landiord, its employees and agents as additional insureds. All
policies shall waive all rights of subrogation and provide that said
insurance may not be amended or canceled without providing thirty (30)

13

24



ITEM 7
Attachment 2

days prior written notice by registered mail to Landlord. Prior to the
Commencement Date and at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration
of any insurance policy, Tenant shall provide Landiord with certificates of
insurance and full copies of the insurance policies evidencing the
mandatory insurance coverages written by insurance companies
acceptable to Landlord, licensed to do business in California and rated
AVl or better by Best's Insurance Guide. Landiord may require an
increase in the coverage and/or the types of coverage from time to time
upon written notice to Tenant. Each of the Parties, on behalf of their
respective insurance companies insuring such property of either Landlord

or Tenant against such loss, waive any right of subrogation that it may
have against the other.

11. INDEMNIFICATION. Tenant shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless the
Premises, Landlord and its managers, officers, directors, members, employees, agents,
contractors, partners and lenders, from and against any and all claims, and/or damages,
costs, liens, judgments, penalties, permits, reasonable attorneys' and consultant's fees,
expenses and/or liabilities arising out of, involving, or in dealing with, the occupancy of the
Premises by Tenant, the conduct of Tenant's business, any act, omission or neglect of
Tenant, its officers, directors, members, employees, agents or contractors, and out of any
Breach by Tenant in the performance in a timely manner of any obligation on Tenant's part
to be performed under this Lease, except for matters which are the result of Landlord's
gross negligence, intentional wrongful acts, or in default of this Lease. The foregoing shall
include, but not be limited to, all costs of the defense or pursuit of any claim or any action or
proceeding involved therein,” and whether or not (in the case of claims made against
Landlord) litigated and/or reduced to judgment. In case any action or proceeding is brought
against Landlord by reason of any of the foregoing matters, Tenant upon notice from
Landlord shall defend the same at Tenant's expense by counsel reasonably satisfactory to
Landlord and Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant in such defense. Landlord need not
have first paid any such claim in order to be so indemnified. In addition, Landiord may
require Tenant to pay Landlord’'s attorneys’ fees and costs in defending against or
participating in such claim, action or proceeding if Landlord shall decide, in its exercise of

reasonable judgment, it is unsatisfied with the representation of its interest by Tenant or its
counsel.

Landlord shall not be liable for injury- or damage to the person or goods, wares,
merchandise or other property of Tenant, Tenant's employees, contractors, invitees,
customers, or any other person in or about the Premises, whether such damage or injury is
caused by or results from fire, earthquake, flood, terrorism, steam, electricity, gas, water or
rain, or from the breakage, leakage, obstruction or other any other cause, whether the said
injury or damage results from conditions arising upon the Premises or from other source or

places except if such injury or damage is the result of the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of Landlord or Landlord’s employees, contractors or agents.

12. NO LIENS. Tenant shall keep the Premises, the Theater Building, and the Property, free
from any liens arising out of any work performed, material furnished, or obligation incurred
by Tenant or alleged to have been incurred by Tenant. If Tenant shall fail to pay any charge
for which a mechanic’s lien claim and suit to foreclose the lien have been filed, and shall not
have obtained the release of said lien from the property subject to such lien, Landiord may
(but shall not be so required to) pay said claim and any costs, and the amount so paid,
together with reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in connection therewith, shall be

01107.0020/262967.7 14

25



13.

immediately due and owing from Tenant to Landiord, together with interest at the rate
prescribed in Section 31.6, on the amount of the mechanic’s lien claim.

SIGNS. Tenant may use the marguee sign and two (2) billboards (collectively the “Signs’)
currently located on the exterior of the Premises for its business operations under this
Lease. Tenant shall not place or permit to be placed any additional signs upon the exterior
or in the windows of the Premises or in the Adjoining Patio without Landlord’s prior written
consent. Any sign installed without such approval shall be immediately removed by Tenant
and, if said sign is not removed by Tenant within three (3) days of written notice from
Landlord to Tenant, then Landlord may remove and destroy said sign without Tenant's
approval and without any liability to Tenant. Tenant shall not modify or alter any of the Signs
without the prior written approval of Landiord which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed. Landlord shall reply to any proposed alteration within fourteen (14)
days from submission. Any revision shall comply with the City municipal code requirements
related to signage prior to any revisions actually being made to the Signs. Tenant shall

maintain the Signs in good condition and repair at all times during the Term at its sole cost
and expense.

14. UTILITIES.

14.1. Tenant's Responsibilities. Tenant shall pay before delinquency all charges for
water, gas, heat, electricity, power, sewer, telephone service, and all other services
and utilities used in, upon, or about the Premises by Tenant or any of its subtenants,
licensees, or concessionaires during the Term of this Lease. Tenant acknowledges
that the Premises and other properties in the vicinity are served by a series of
communal solid waste collection and disposal facilities for the deposit and removal of
solid waste. Tenant shall pay such fees, assessments or charges as may be levied
for the operation, maintenance and service of such facilities and shall comply with
reasonable rules and regulations established from time to time for use thereof.
Tenant shall insure that trash and debris produced by the activities on Premises do
not accumulate on the Premises.

14.2. Landlord Reimbursement. Provided that Tenant is not in default under this Lease,
Landlord agrees to reimburse Tenant for payment of Standard Utility Services (as
defined below) as follows:

a. For the first six (6) months of the Term, actual cost of Standard Utility
Services incurred by Tenant to a maximum of Three Thousand Doliars
($3,000) per month.

b. For the following six () months of the Term, actual cost of Standard Utility
Services incurred by Tenant to a maximum of One Thousand Five Hundred
Dollars $1,500) per month; and

c. For the following six (6) months of the Term, actual cost of Standard Utility
Services by Tenant to a maximum of Seven Hundred Fifty Dollars ($750) per
month.

“Standard Utility Services” include only electricity, gas, water and garbage but
excluding computer or internet services. To obtain reimbursement from Landiord,
Tenant shall submit on a monthly basis a written request for reimbursement

01107.0020/262967.7 16

26



ITEM 7
Attachment 2

summarizing the actual utility costs incurred by Tenant together with a copy of the
actual utility bills and proof of payment. Upon receipt of the reimbursement request
with the required documentation, Landiord shall promptly process such payment to
Tenant in accordance with Landlord’s standard processing procedures.

Tenant had originally requested that Landiord provide financial assistance of Three
Thousand Dollars ($3,000) per month to offset Standard Utility Services for the first
twelve (12) months of the Term so that Tenant could establish a strong financial base
for its operations. Although this Lease provides the some financiai assistance as
specified above, Landlord does have an interest in Tenant's success. Accordingly,
during the quarterly meetings with the City’s Ad Hoc Committee (which are part of the
Reporting Requirements as set forth on Exhibit D-2), Tenant can indicate any
financial challenges that Tenant may be experiencing as a result of utility costs and
propose solutions for consideration by the Ad Hoc committee.

15. ENTRY AND INSPECTION. Tenant shall permit Landlord and its employees and agents to
enter into and upon the Premises at all reasonable times for the purpose of inspecting the
same or for the purpose of maintaining the Theater Building, or for the purpose of making
repairs, alterations or additions or performing the improvements to any portion of said
building(s), including the erection and maintenance of such scaffolding, canopy, fences and
props as may be required, or for the purpose of posting notices of non-responsibility for
alterations, additions or repairs, or for the purpose of placing upon the Property in which the
Premises are located any usual or ordinary “For Sale” signs or any signs for public safety
as determined by Landlord. Landlord shall be permitted to do any of the above without any
rebate of rent and without any liability to Tenant for any loss of occupation or quiet
enjoyment of the Premises thereby occasioned. Landlord shall make reasonable efforts to
coordinate times for any repairs deemed necessary with Tenant to reduce to the extent
practicable any interference with Tenant's use of the Premises. Tenant shall permit
Landlord, at any time within six (6) months prior to the expiration of this Term to place upon
the Premises any usual or ordinary “For Lease” or “For Sale” signs, and during such six (6)
month period Landlord or its agents may, during normal business hours, enter upon said
Premises and exhibit same to prospective tenants or purchasers.

16. DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION.

16.1. Notice to Landlord. Tenant shall give prompt notice to Landlord in case of any fire

or other damage to the Premises or the Theater Building.

16.2. Partial Casualty to Premises. If the Premises shall be damaged by any casualty
including, but not limited to, civil unrest, vandalism, a fire, flood or. earthquake, such
that (i) the cost of replacement or repair of the Theater Building is less than or equal
to fifty percent (50%) of the total replacement cost thereof; or (ii) the cost of
replacement or repair of damage to the Theater, and any other structures comprising
the Premises, when aggregated together is less than or equal to fifty percent (50%)
of the total replacement cost thereof, then Landlord shall promptly repair and restore
the same to substantially the condition thereof immediately prior to said damage or
destruction. If insurance proceeds are forthcoming, Landlord shall not be obligated to
commence the restoration and/or repair until Landlord has received said insurance
proceeds. Landlord shall take all reasonable steps necessary so as to obtain such

insurance proceeds promptly so as to prevent delay in restoring and/or repairing the
Premises to its prior condition.

01107.0020/262967.7 16

27



16.3.

16.4.

16.5.

16.6.

16.7.

Substantial Damage to Premises. If the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed
by any casualty (or the other matters described above), such that (i) the cost of
replacement or repair of the Theater exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the total
replacement cost thereof; or (ii) the cost of replacement or repair of damage to the
Theater Building, and any of the other structures comprising the Premises, when
aggregated together exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the total replacement cost
thereof, then Landlord may elect to either replace or repair the damage as aforesaid,
or to cancel this Lease by written notice of cancellation given to Tenant within ninety
(90) days after the date of the casualty. This Lease shall cease and terminate twenty
(20) days following Tenant's receipt of Landlord’s cancellation notice, and Tenant
shall vacate and surrender the Premises to Landlord in accordance with the terms of
this Lease. In determining the cost of replacement of the Theater or any other portion
of the Premises, the cost of foundations and footings shall not be included, except to
the extent of the cost of repair thereto required by such casualty damage or
destruction.

Reconstruction. In the event of any reconstruction of the Premises under this
Section 16, Landlord shall be obligated to reconstruct the Premises to the extent of
the condition of the Premises prior to the damage.

Rent Abatement. In the event that any casualty to the Premises is such that
performances are impossible or impractical during the reconstruction as determined
by Tenant, Tenant shall be entitled to abatement of the Monetary Rent for actual
performances canceled based on a ratio of total performances and classes required
for the year under the Minimum Program Requirements bears to the number
canceled.

Termination. Upon any termination of this Lease under any of the provisions of this
Section 16, the Parties shall be released thereby without further obligations to the
other Party coincident with the surrender of possession of the Premises to Landlord,
except for obligations which have theretofore accrued and be then unpaid.

Determination of Percentage of Damage or Destruction. If either Landlord or
Tenant contends that the percentage of the damage or destruction referred to above
exceeds fifty percent (50%) and the other Party disagrees, the determination of the
percentage shall be made in writing by a senior officer of the insurance company that
is to make insurance proceeds available for replacement or repair. If said insurance
company elects not to render such a determination in a timely manner, then, in such
event, either Landlord or Tenant may by written notice to the other elect to have the
determination made by binding mediation in accordance with the mediation
provisions of this Lease.

17. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.

17.1.

Assignment and Subletting. Tenant shall not sublet the Premises or assign this
Lease without the prior written consent of Landlord. Landlord shall not unreasonably
withhold its consent to an assignment or sublease to a proposed assignee or
subtenant. In no event shall Landlord be required to approve of any assignment or
sublease which would result in a violation of any other agreements to which Landlord
is a party and/or for which all of the following criteria are not met:

01107.0020/262967.7 17

28



17.2.

ITEM 7
Attachment 2

a. The proposed assignee or subtenant has submitted to Landlord financial
statements showing that the proposed assignee’s or subtenant's financial

condition, including net worth and liquidity, is equal to or greater than
Tenant's financial condition;

b. The proposed assignee or subtenant is morally and financially responsible;

c. Tenant is not in default in the payment of rent or the performance of any
obligations under this Lease; and

d. The proposed assignee or subtenant, in Landlord’s judgment, has adequate

experience in the operation of a theater and comply with the Minimum
Program Requirements.

Any such assignment shall be subject to all of the terms and conditions of this
Lease, including, but not limited to, the use restrictions, and the proposed assignee
or subtenant shall assume the obligations of Tenant under this Lease in writing in
form satisfactory to Landiord. The proposed assignee or subtenant shall
simultaneously provide to Landlord an estoppel certificate in the form described in
Section 21. Consent by Landlord to one assignment or subletting shall not be
deemed to be consent to any subsequent assignment or subletting. Any assignment
or subletting without the prior written consent of Landlord shall be void, shall
constitute a material breach of this Lease, and shall, at the option of Landlord,

terminate this Lease. Neither this Lease nor any interest therein shall be assignable
as to the interest of Tenant by operation of law.

Landlord shall be under no obligation to consider a request for its consent to an
assignment or sublease until Tenant shall have submitted in writing to Landlord a
request for Landlord’s consent to such assignment or sublease, a history of the
proposed assignee’s or subtenant’s business experience and financial viability and

such other information as required by Landlord to verify that the criteria set forth
herein are met. -

Temporary Uses by Third Parties. Notwithstanding Section 17.1, Tenant may,
from time to time, sublease on a short term basis all or a portion of the Theater
Building to valid theatrical companies for specific productions which comply with the
use restrictions set forth in Section 4. Tenant shall control or otherwise monitor the

sale of all tickets to any productions by such temporary subtenant and which sales
shall be included in the calculation of Monetary Rent.

18. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES; TERMINATION.
18.1.

Default by Téenant. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall
constitute a default and breach of this Lease by Tenant:

0] Failure to pay any Monetary Rent or other monetary payment required
hereunder to Landlord within five (5) days after receiving notice from

Landlord of Tenant's failure to pay any such obligation when due under
this Lease.

01107.0020/262967.7 18

29



(ii)

(i)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Failure to perform any provision of this Lease (other than the payment of
money), if the failure to perform is not cured within thirty (30) days of
receiving written notice of the default from Landlord. If the default cannot
be reasonably cured within thirty (30) days, Tenant shall not be in default
of this Lease if Tenant commences to cure the default within the thirty
(30) day period and diligently and in good faith continues to cure the

-default.

Failure of Tenant to meet or comply with the Performance Standards.
Vacation or abandonment of the Premises by Tenant.
Making a general assignment for the benefit of creditors.

Filing of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or the adjudication of Tenant as
a bankrupt.

Appointment of a receiver to take possession of all or substantially all the
assets of Tenant located at the Premises or of Tenant's leasehold interest
in the Premises.

Filing by any creditor of Tenant of an involuntary petition in bankruptcy
which is not dismissed within sixty (60) days after filing.

Attachment, execution or other judicial seizure of all or substantially ali of
the assets of Tenant or Tenant's leasehold where such an attachment,
execution or seizure is not discharged within sixty (60) days.

In the event of any such default or breach by -Tenant, Landlord may at any
time thereafter, without further notice or demand, rectify or cure such default, and
any sums expended by Landlord for such purposes shall be paid by Tenant to
Landlord upon demand and as additional Rent hereunder. In the event of any such
default or breach by Tenant, Landlord shall have the right to continue the lease in full
force and effect and enforce all of its rights and remedies under this Lease, including
the right to recover the Rent as it becomes due under this Lease or Landlord shall
have the right at any time thereafter to elect to terminate the Lease and Tenant’s
right to possession thereunder. Upon such termination, Landlord shall have the right
to recover from Tenant:

(a) The worth at the time of award of the unpaid Rent which

had been earned at the time of termination;

(b) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the

unpaid Rent which would have been earned after termination until the time of
award exceeds the amount of such Rent loss that Tenant proves could have
been reasonably avoided; and

(©) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the

unpaid Rent for the balance of the term after the time of award exceeds the
amount of such Rent loss that Tenant proves could be reasonably avoided.

01107.0020/262967.7

19

30



ITEM 7
Attachment 2
The "worth at the time of award” of the amounts referred to in subparagraphs
(i), ii), and (iii) above shall be computed by allowing interest (or by discounting in the
case of subparagraph (iii)) at three percent (3%) over the prime rate then being

charged by Bank of America, N.A. but in no event greater than the maximum rate
permitted by law.

“Rent” shall include all sums payable pursuant to this Lease on a regular basis;
including “Monetary Rent,” Additional Rent,” reimbursement of real estate taxes and
any similar amounts. The payment shall be computed on the basis of the average
monthly amount thereof accruing during any preceding twelve (12) month period
selected by Landlord, except that if it becomes necessary to compute such Rent
before such a twelve (12) month period has occurred, then such Rent shall be

computed on the basis of the average monthly amount hereof accruing during such
shorter period.

Such efforts as Landlord may make to mitigate the damages caused by Tenant's

breach of this Lease shail not constitute a waiver of Landlord’s right to recover
damages against Tenant hereunder.

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, the breach of this Lease by Tenant, or an
abandonment of the Premises by Tenant, shall hot constitute a termination of this
Lease, or of Tenant’s right of possession hereunder, unless and until Landlord elects
to do so, and until such time- Landlord shall have the right to enforce all of its rights
and remedies under this Lease, including the right to recover rent, and all other
payments to be made by Tenant hereunder, as they become due. Failure of Landlord

to terminate this Lease shall not prevent Landlord from later terminating this Lease or
constitute a waiver of Landlord’s right to-do so.

18.2. No Waiver. Acceptance of any payment under this Lease shall not be deemed a
waiver of any default or a waiver of any of Landlord’s remedies.

18.3. Landlord’s Default. Except as may be elsewhere expressly provided in this Lease,
Landlord shall not be in default unless Landlord fails to perform obligations required
of Landlord within a reasonable time, but in no event later than thirty (30) days after
written notice by Tenant to Landlord, specifying wherein Landiord has failed to
perform such obligation; provided, however, that if the nature of Landlord’s obligation
is such that more than thirty (30) days are required for performance then Landlord
shall not be deemed in default if Landlord commences performance within the thirty
(30) day period and thereafter diligently prosecutes the same to completion.

18.4. Cumulative Remedies. No remedy or election hereunder shall be deemed exclusive

but shall, wherever possible, be cumulative with all other remedies at law or in
equity.

18.5. Termination.

18.5.1. The Parties acknowledge that this Lease shall be terminated immediately
at the occurrence of any of the following events:

a. By expiration of the Lease,

01107.0020/262967.7 20

31



b. By mutual agreement of both Parties; or
c. Inthe case of casualty as provided for in Section 16.6.

18.5.2. The Parties acknowledge that this Lease may be terminated by Landlord

upon five (5) days written notice if Tenant fails to meet the Performance
Standards.

18.56.3. Termination of this Lease shall not extinguish Tenant’s obligations to pay
Rent or its other obligations including indemnification of Landiord.

19. SURRENDER OF PREMISES. The voluntary or other surrender of the Premises by
Tenant, or a mutual cancellation thereof, shali not work a merger, and shall, at the option of
Landlord, terminate all or any existing subleases or licensees, or may, at the option of
Landlord, operate as an assignment to it of any or all of such subleases or licenses.

20. FORCE MAJEURE. If either Party hereto shall be delayed or prevented from the
performance of any act required hereunder by reason of acts of God, strikes, lockouts,
labor troubles, inability to procure materials, restrictive governmental laws or regulations or
other cause without fault and beyond the control of the Party obligated (financial inability
excepted), performance of such act shall be excused for the period of the delay and the
period for the performance of any such act shall be extended for a period equivalent to the
period of such delay; provided, however, nothing in this Section 20 shall excuse Tenant
from the prompt payment of any Monetary Rent.

21. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE. Tenant shall, at any time and from time to time upon not less
than twenty (20) days prior notice from Landlord, execute, acknowledge and deliver to
Landlord a statement in writing certifying that this Lease is unmodified and is in full force
and effect, and the dates to which the Minimum Rent has been paid, and stating whether or
not to the best knowledge that Landlord is in default under this Lease, and, if in default,
specifying in reasonable detail each such default, and such other matters as Landliord may
reasonably request, it being intended that any such statement delivered by Tenant may be
relied upon by ‘Landlord or any prospective purchaser of the fee or any prospective
mortgagee or encumbrancer thereof.

If Landlord desires to refinance or transfer the Premises, Tenant agrees to deliver to
Landlord or any lender or transferee designated by Landlord such financial information
concerning Tenant as may be reasonably required by such lender or transferee and is
reasonably available to Tenant. All such financial information shall be received by Landlord
in confidence.

22,SUBORDINATION. The rights of Tenant shall be and are subject and subordinate at all
times to the lien of any mortgage now or hereafter in force against the Theater Building, and
Tenant shall promptly execute and deliver such further instruments subordinating this Lease
to the lien of any such mortgage as shall be requested by Landlord.

23. CONDEMNATION. In the event a condemnation or transfer in lieu thereof results in a
taking of any substantial and/or material portion of the Premises, Landlord or Tenant may,
upon written notice given to the other Party within thirty (30) days after such taking or
transfer in lieu thereof, terminate this Lease. In connection therewith, Landlord and Tenant
acknowledge that:

01107.0020/262967.7 21

32



ITEM 7
Attachment 2

a. Landlord (acting as the City of Suisun City) possesses the power to take the
Premises through eminent domain proceedings; and

b. The business to be conducted by Tenant upon the Premises is not a viable
business without financial assistance from Landlord, therefore if Tenant must

vacate the Premises, it will be extremely impractical, if not impossible, for
Tenant to operate its business elsewhere.

Therefore, upon such termination Tenant shall have the right to claim and recover from
Landlord and/or the condemning authority only the amount equal to the value of any
improvements installed by Tenant. Tenant shall not receive any value related to the
leasehold value of the property which shall be paid solely to Landlord.

24. USE OF LANDLORD’S NAME. Tenant shall not use Landlord’'s name for advertising or

promotion without Landlord’s prior written consent which may be granted or withheld in its
sole discretion.

25. TRADE FIXTURES. Tenant has the right to use the Landlord’s Personal Property but

Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, install and equip the Premises with all furniture,
fixtures, trade fixtures, equipment and personal property reasonably required for the
operation of Tenant’s business. Any and all fixtures and appurtenances installed by Tenant
shall conform with the requirements of all applicable laws and regulations. All furniture and
trade fixtures installed by Tenant shall remain the property of Tenant during the Term of this
Lease but Tenant shall not be remove .any trade fixtures during the Term hereof without
Landlord's prior written consent, which consent may be withheld or granted in Landlord’s
sole discretion. On termination of this Lease, Tenant may, provided Tenant is not in default
of this Lease, remove at its own expense all trade fixtures, equipment and its personal
property. At termination of this Lease, if Tenant has left any merchandise, furniture,
equipment, signs, trade fixtures or other personal property in the Premises, Landlord may
give Tenant written notice to remove such property. in the event such property is not
removed within five (5) days of the date of said notice, Landlord may dispose of said
property in any manner whatsoever and Tenant hereby waives any claim or right to said
property or any proceeds derived from the sale thereof. Any damage to the Premises

resulting from the installation or removal of any of said trade fixtures or equipment shall be
repaired by Tenant at Tenant's sole cost and expense.

26. PARKING. Tenant has the non-exclusive right to use the Parking Parcels. Furthermore,
public parking is available at other locations near the Premises. Tenant is acknowledges

that parking on the Parking Parcels and the public parking is also utilized by and important
to the businesses in the Historic Downtown Area.

Student parking shall be off-site in the public parking area adjacent to the Galleria as may

be designated by Landlord (“Student Parking") Tenant shall require and enforce the use of
the Student Parking by its students.

27. QUIET ENJOYMENT. As long as Tenant is not in default under this Lease, Tenant shall

have quiet enjoyment of the Premises during the Term.

28. RECORDING MEMORANDUM. Within ten (10) business days of the -Commencement
Date (as defined in Section 2.2), the Parties shall execute a memorandum of this Lease in
the form reasonably acceptable which Landlord shall cause to be recorded in the Official

01107.0020/262967.7 22

33



Records of Solano County (“Memorandum of Lease”). Upon termination or exercise of
any rights under this Lease or an amendment of this Lease, the Parties shall execute and
record an amendment to the Memorandum of Lease. Tenant shall cooperate with executing
any documents reasonably required to effect this provision. Upon termination of the Lease,
Tenant shall execute and acknowledge any documents reasonably requested by Landlord
in order to terminate the Memorandum of Lease.

29. HOLDOVER. Tenant has no right to retain possession of the Premises or any part thereof
beyond the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. Any holding over after the
expiration of the term of this Lease, with the consent of Landlord, express or implied, shall
be construed to be a tenancy from month to month, cancelable upon thirty (30) days written
notice, and at a monthly rent equal to Four Thousand Dollars ($4,000) and upon terms and
conditions as existed during the last year of the term hereof.

30. SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS. Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that, as of the
Effective Date, it is a non-profit corporation and has applied for tax exempt status. Tenant
covenants and agrees that at all times during the Term of this Lease as may be extended
by the parties, Tenant shall remain a non-profit corporation in good standing with the State
of California. Tenant agrees to provide Landlord with open access to all its corporate
records upon request. Tenant shall promptly notify Landlord in writing of any change in its
corporate officers, articles, bylaws or non-profit status. As of the Effective Date, Tenant's
single point of contact for interaction with Landlord under this Lease shall be the President
of the Board. Tenant may change this designation from time to time upon written notice
delivered to Landlord together with reasonable documentation confirming corporate
authorization for such appointment. Tenant acknowledges that the covenants under this
Section 30 are material consideration for this Lease.

31. MISCELLANEOUS.

31.1. Binding Effect; Choice of Law. This Lease shall be binding upon the Parties,
their successors and assigns and be governed by the laws of the State of
California. Any litigation between the Parties hereto concerning this Lease shall be
initiated in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Solano.

31.2.  Attorney’s Fees. In any action between the Parties seeking enforcement of any of
the terms and provisions of this Lease, or in connection with the Premises, the
prevailing Party in such action shall be entitled, to have and to recover from the
other Party its reasonable attorney’s fees and other reasonable expenses in
connection with such action or proceeding, in addition to its recoverable court
costs.

31.3.  Partial Invalidity. If any term, covenant, condition or provision of this Lease is held
by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the
remainder of the provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect and shall in
no way be affected, impaired or invalidated thereof.

31.4. Successors in Interest. The covenants herein contained shall, subject to the
provisions as to assignment, apply to and bind the heirs, successors, executors,

administrators and assigns of all the Parties hereto; and all of the Parties hereto
shall be jointly and severally liable hereunder.

01107.0020/262967.7 23

34



ITEM 7
Attachment 2
31.5. No Oral Agreements. This Lease covers in full each and every agreement of
every kind or nature whatsoever between the Parties hereto concerning this Lease,
and all preliminary negotiations and agreements of whatsoever kind or nature are
merged herein, and there are no oral agreements. Tenant acknowledges that no

representations or warranties of any kind or nature not specifically set forth herein
have been made by Landlord or its employees, agents or representatives.

31.6. Interest. Any sum due to Landlord under this Lease shall bear interest from and

after its due date at a rate equal to three percent (3%) over the reference rate being
charged by Bank of America, N.A. per annum until paid to Landlord but not in
excess of the maximum rate permitted by law.

31.7. Authority. Each individual executing this Lease on behalf of Tenant represents
and warrants that he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease on
behalf of said corporation in accordance with a duly adopted resolution of the Board

of Directors and that this Lease is binding upon said corporation in accordance with
its terms.

31.8. Time. Time is of the essence of this Lease.

31.9. Consistency. Each provision herein shall be interpreted so as to be consistent
with every other provision.

31.10. Relationship of Parties. The relationship of the Parties is that of Landlord and

Tenant, and it is expressly understood and agreed that Landlord does not in any
way or for any purpose become a partner of Tenant in the conduct of Tenant's
business or otherwise, or a joint venturer with Tenant.

31.11. Non-Discrimination. Tenant herein covenants by and for Tenant, Tenant's
successors, heirs, executors, administrators and assigns, and all persons claiming
unde